1-2-2015

**RECEIVED**

APR 15 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**SC Court of Appeals No. 2014-000448**

---

**The State, ..... Respondent,**

**vs.**

**Daniel William Spade ..... Appellant**

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**C. RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 229-5010  
S.C. Bar #: 006188**

**KENNETH P. SHABEL  
175 Magnolia St., Suite 201  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 583-0001  
S.C. Bar # 16136**

**Attorneys for Appellant**

## **Questions Presented**

Question I: Did the trial court err in excluding the testimony of Dale Smith as to the occurrence of panic attacks by the minor child when adult males other than Daniel Spade was present when the occurrence of panic attacks was used by the state to prove Mr. Spade had abused his daughter?

Question II: Did the trial court err in declaring that the attorney for Daniel Spade improperly struck Juror 199 based upon her gender strike when the attorney specifically stated the juror was struck for her age and being retired?

Question III: Did the trial court err in permitting Douglas Brannon, a private attorney, to actively participate in the trial of this case when he had represented the mother and adoptive father of the minor child in the family court case?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in ruling that Doug Brannon had been properly appointed as required by S C Code § 1-7-470 when the solicitor failed to produce the commission from the governor as required by the statute?

Question V: Did the trial court err in failing to exclude the testimony of Meredith Thompson-Loftis when the state had been ordered to turn over to the defendant the file of Ms. Loftis if they intended to use her as a witness a reasonable time before trial and the state did not turn over substantial portions of the file until four days before trial and portions were not turned over until the day of trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Procedural Facts*

Daniel Spade was arrested on May 3, 2011 and charged with criminal sexual conduct with a minor. The Spartanburg grand jury indicted him on June 17, 2011. An amendment was returned on February 21, 2014. He was tried before the Honorable R. Keith Kelley and a jury on February 24-26, 2014. Prior to the start of the trial, Solicitor Barry Barnett presented a letter written by him appointing Mr. Doug Brannon, the attorney who had represented the mother and adoptive father in the second termination of parental rights matter, as a special prosecutor in the trial. The jury convicted Mr. Spade of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Judge Kelly sentenced him to 35 years in prison. Mr. Spade filed his notice of appeal on March 4, 2014.

### *Facts of the Case*

While Daniel Spade was employed with the same company as Heather Smith, they met and had a brief affair.<sup>1</sup> As a result of this affair, a daughter was born. Mr. Spade, who then resided in Virginia, came to Spartanburg a few months after the birth of his child to visit. Rec. on App. at 151, ll 5-9. He visited numerous other times as she grew older. Rec. on App. at 151, ll 15-17.

Mr. Spade expressed a desire to establish regular visitation with his daughter. When the mother rebuked this attempt, he filed an action seeking visitation in August of 2007. Rec. on App. at 151, ll 15-17; Rec. on App. at 173, ll 23-25. The parties agreed to mediate the

---

<sup>1</sup> In December of 2007 Mrs. Smith married David Jolley who later adopted the minor child. Rec. On App. at 151, ll 20-21.

matter prior to a hearing. During the mediation conference, the mother of the minor child decided that “Danny D” would be the appropriate name for their daughter to call Mr Spade Rec. on App. at 152, ll 6-23 No explanation was given for the name chosen for the daughter to use

As a result of the mediation, Mr Spade was given visitation with his daughter Before visitation could begin, Mrs. Jolley filed the first action to terminate Mr Spade’s parental rights This action was filed in 2008 Rec on App at 24-25 to 153, ll 1-14, Rec. on App. at 192, ll 20-23. After Mrs. Jolley lost the first termination of parental rights action, Mr Spade started his visitation He visited with the minor child several times in Spartanburg and for ten days in the summer of 2010 she went to Virginia to stay with him Rec on App at 154, ll 19-23 After the visitation in Virginia, Mr. Spade visited in Spartanburg, SC in September and October of 2010

After the September of 2010 visit, Mrs Jolley complained of their daughter having anxiety attacks, not sleeping well, crying for no reason and, after being potty trained, started to wet herself Rec on App at 157, ll 8-25 to 159, ll 1-9. She sought out Kimberly Roseborough, a counselor who was qualified at trial as an expert in child abuse and treatment Rec on App. at 198, ll 19-22 At that time she also filed an action to stop all visitation. Rec On App. at 175, ll 20-23 The purpose of the minor child seeing the counselor was to resolve the anxiety issues After about 6 months of counseling, during which no allegation of sexual abuse arose, the counselor, on March 28, 2011, told Mrs. Jolley she was recommending that visitation resume Rec on App. at 180, ll 5-22, 213, ll 11-16. This counselor had also recommended to Mrs. Jolley that a “sit down” be held with Mr Spade, the counselor, and Mr and Mrs Jolley

Rec. on App. at 194, 3-8 This was the last contact Ms Rosborough had with the minor child and Mrs. Jolley.

During the time visitation stopped, Mr Spade did have telephone contact with his daughter Rec. on App at 184, ll 13-13-16, 186, ll 14-18. Mrs. Jolley testified she was “not happy” that Mr. Spade had told their daughter “[Minor child], you can say I love you too, daddy ” Rec on App at 185, ll 11-18.

Three days after the recommendation that visitation resume, Dale Smith, the grandmother of the minor child, first reported that the child told her of an incident of alleged sex abuse. Rec on App. at 215, ll 9-21. A “day or two” after Mrs. Smith was first told of the alleged incident, she told her husband Rec on App. at 239, ll 16-25 to 240, ll 1-2 After a few more days, Mr Smith reported what had been said to Mrs. Jolley Rec. on App at 241, ll 20-22

The child’s mother then took the child to Tabitha Webber for a forensic interview She was qualified at trial as an expert in family counseling and child therapy Rec. on App. at 257, ll 17-20. Ms Webber testified that as a result of her interview she contacted the local police and made arrangements for the minor child to enter therapy Rec. on App at 249, ll 2-13 As a result of the statement by the minor child, Mr Spade was arrested.

The minor child testified that during a visit Mr. Spade put his private parts in her mouth. Rec on App. at 138, ll 7 The minor child further testified that no other act of sexual abuse occurred. Rec. on App. at 140, ll 8-9. She did not identify on which visit this occurred, but that it occurred in the restroom near the pool Rec on App. at 138, ll 8-25 She further testified that the pool was on the same floor as their room Rec. on App. at 144, ll 15-22 The testimony by the witness from the hotel was that Mr Spade stayed on the second floor on one

visit and the third floor on the other stay. Rec on App. at 234, ll 18-25 to 235, ll 1-13 The pool was located on the first floor Rec. on App. at 235, ll 1-2 The minor child also testified that a lot of people were present at the pool. Rec. on App at 147, ll 23-24. These people would have had ready access to the restroom at the pool. She further stated that the bathroom did not contain a stall. Rec. on App at 145, ll 13-18. The record did not establish on which day Mr. Spade stayed at the hotel that this incident allegedly occurred.

### **Argument**

#### **Question I**

**Did the trial court err in excluding the testimony of Dale Smith as to the occurrence of panic attacks by the minor child when adult males other than Daniel Spade was present when the occurrence of panic attacks was used by the state to prove Mr. Spade had abused his daughter?**

At trial defense counsel proffered the testimony of Dale Smith to establish that the minor child had had panic attacks when David Jolley, the adoptive father, was present. Rec on App at 224, ll 11-17. The state argued that this was proof of third party guilt which had been excluded in a pre-trial hearing Rec. on App. at 225, ll 21-25 The state further argued the testimony should be excluded because it tended to show “[a]nd even in the best light I don’t think you could say that it’s just David Jolley. It could be any male person, or whatever, that could cause these panic attacks from there but there were other people available ” Rec on App at 225, ll 23-25 to 226, ll 1-2. The state then concluded “To me, even if it is relevant in this case, it’s highly prejudicial It outweighs the probative effect in this case ” Rec. on App. at 227, ll 20-22 In response, defense counsel appropriately pointed out “We are not establishing third

party guilt. We are establishing explanation for symptoms, which the State of South Carolina is going to argue is a symptom of child sexual abuse and she's having panic attacks because of what her biological father did." Rec. on App. at 228, ll 15-19. The testimony was excluded.<sup>2</sup>

True to the prediction by defense counsel, the state argued in closing the anxiety attacks were caused by the sexual abuse. Mr. Brannon said in closing "Then what we found out was that he got to take [minor child] to Virginia for an extended period of time. And then you hear that [minor child] becomes anxious. You hear that a potty trained little girl wets herself. You hear that a four year old girl, is afraid of the dark. You hear that a four year old little girl has to sleep under a table like this. You hear that this baby does this just so she can close her eyes and not be afraid." Rec. on App. at 303, ll 3-10. He further argued "But what we know is before that meeting [the minor child] was curled up under a table. [The minor child] was fearful. [the minor child] was clinging. [The minor child], potty trained, stands behind a door in the bathroom in her mommy's house and pees herself." Rec. on App. at 305, ll 10-15. But what the jury did not hear was an alternative explanation for these anxiety attacks. The jury was left with only one impression - the attacks were caused by the alleged sexual abuse. With no other explanation for the anxiety attacks, the conclusion of the jury was both logical and compelled by the evidence.

The alternative explanation for the anxiety was relevant evidence as it tended to prove the anxiety was not caused by any alleged sexual abuse by Mr. Spade. As the South

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial judge cautioned defense counsel concerning this testimony "Don't point to any particular individual." Rec. on App. at 230, ll 8-9. This admonishment apparently did not apply to the prosecution as Mr. Brannon, in his closing argument, pointed to only one individual - Mr. Spade.

Carolina Supreme Court has said “ Evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy ” *State v Wiles*, 383 S C 151, 158, 679 S E 2d 172, 176 (2009), Rule 401, South Carolina Rules of Evidence The trial court mistakenly viewed the testimony as being evidence of third party guilt which he had excluded in a pre-trial motion He failed to recognize that the testimony was relevant on the issue of the cause of the anxiety Defense counsel never argued the testimony related to third party guilt Nor did the trial judge explain how the testimony related to third party guilt.

As the state argued below, an alternative explanation for the anxiety would, of course, been prejudicial to the theory of the state’s case But when one argues that evidence is prejudicial, this is not what is meant. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has said “Moreover, the standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial, rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE is whether there is a danger of unfair prejudice that substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence.” *State v Collins*, 409 S C 524, 536, 763 S E 2d 22, 28 (2014), reh’g denied (Sept 24, 2014) Evidence that supplies an alternative explanation for the anxiety is probative of a very relevant issue. Any alleged prejudice to the state in admitting the testimony is not outweighed by the defendant being able to explain a series of facts in a manner inconsistent with the state’s theory of guilt. As has been said by another court “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to [the state’s] case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis ” *United States v Bonds*, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir 1993)

The trial judge used an improper basis to rule that the testimony was not admissible This ruling prevented the jury from hearing relevant evidence that would establish

an alternative explanation for the anxiety attacks. This testimony would not have caused the jury to decide the case on an improper basis. In fact, the testimony would have aided the jury in deciding the case on a proper basis.

## Question II

**Did the trial court err in declaring that the attorney for Daniel Spade improperly struck Juror 199 based upon her gender strike when the attorney specifically stated the jury was struck for her age and being retired?**

During the jury selection, the state objected to the decision of the attorney for Mr Spade to strike Jurors 13 and 199. When the jury was re-selected, Juror 199, whom the trial judge prevented defense counsel from striking, was selected for the second jury. That juror, therefore, is the only juror in question in this appeal. *See, State v Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 126, 470 S.E.2d 366, 373 (1996) (“When the trial judge quashed the first jury panel, the parties selected a new jury. Adams has voiced no complaints about the new jury. We find that no prejudice resulted from the judge's error.”)

When asked about Juror 199 defense counsel explained his decision by saying “Number 199 is a retired grandmother. We did not feel she would be appropriate.” Rec. on App at 82, ll 14-15<sup>3</sup>

After that statement by defense counsel the following occurred between trial counsel and the judge:

THE COURT: Tell me what you mean by that, Ken. She was a

---

<sup>3</sup> While defense counsel did not specifically articulate what was meant by not being appropriate, the testimony at trial was that the report of sexual abuse was first made by the grandmother of the minor child. Rec. on App. at 239, ll 16-25 to 240, ll 1-2

grandmother?

MR. SHABEL. It's prejudicial to our client We felt that given the age and the retired nature and the number of kids she has, we didn't feel like she would be an appropriate juror in our case ”  
Rec. on App. at 83, ll 8-13

\* \* \*

THE COURT: I'm sorry - - I'm sorry, number 99 - - 199 199

Mr. SHABEL: The same thing, Your Honor

MR BRANNON: The same thing what? She's a retired grandmother?

MR. SHABEL If I am remembering correctly.  
Age and background. She's 65 years old and has three children and divorced. We felt she would be prejudicial.  
Rec. on App. 83, ll 17-25

The state then said “They struck them because they were female, was what they did ” Rec. on App. at 84, ll 21-22 Defense counsel then pointed out that two women were on the jury and he still had four strikes left when the final juror was selected <sup>4</sup> In fact, the fourth juror selected was a female at which time the defendant had only used two of his ten strikes Also, the eleventh juror selected was a female when the defendant had four strikes left. These facts, when considering the totality of circumstances, are evidence that the defendant did not purposefully strike the juror based upon gender

In giving the reason for striking Juror 199, the attorney for Mr Spade stated the strike was based upon her being over 65 and retired That is a gender neutral basis for striking a potential juror. In an attempt to meet its obligation under *Batson* to refute this gender neutral basis for striking the juror, Mr. Brannon simply said “I think that they also would show that there

---

<sup>4</sup> Of the twenty-two jurors drawn in the initial jury selection, fourteen were male

are men the same age as some of the women who were struck on here because they were grandmothers” Rec. on App at 87, ll 10-13. But the state never named any specific juror who would fit the claimed profile. The trial judge also never named any specific juror who would fit the profile. Our Supreme Court has said “During step three, the party asserting the *Batson* challenge should point to direct evidence of racial discrimination, such as showing that the opponent struck a juror for a facially neutral reason but did not strike a similarly-situated juror of another race” *State v Inman*, 409 S.C 19, 27, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108-109 (2014). The state has not met its burden in step three as they failed to identify any specific juror who was male and who was over the age of 65. If any juror were even close to the age of Juror 199, and had the state pointed out a specific juror, defense counsel would have had the opportunity to explain a specific reason for accepting that juror. Mr. Brannon, however, did not name a specific juror so no explanation was required.

This court will not, and should not, review an objection that is not ruled upon by the trial court. *State v Johnson*, 363 S.C 53, 59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (“Because the objection was clearly based on remoteness and not the use of the moral turpitude standard, we hold that the issue regarding the use of the moral turpitude standard is not preserved for appellate review.”) Likewise, this court should hold that the failure of the state to identify a seated male juror who was over 65 precludes the trial court and this court from upholding the state’s *Batson* motion. The person making the *Batson* objection is required to do more than say some seated juror may have been of the same age or some juror may have been seated that is identical to the reason given in opposition to the *Batson* challenge. Suppose the state, in response to a *Batson* objection by a defendant, gave a racially neutral reason of “unemployed.” The defendant would

not have met its burden to prove the ground was pre-textual by saying “I think that they would also show that there were white jurors on that jury who were unemployed ” This court would and should require more. This court would, and should, simply say “the defendant failed to prove its allegation.” This case is no different.<sup>5</sup>

The reason for such a rule is simple. Had the state made its *Batson* motion and in response said a certain male juror was over 65, then defense counsel would have been given the opportunity to explain why that juror was an appropriate juror notwithstanding his age For example, defense counsel may have known that the juror had a close friend who had been falsely accused of criminal sexual conduct with a minor or a myriad of other reasons. The trial court would have been required to consider those reasons in making its final determination.

### **Question III**

**Did the trial court err in permitting Douglas Brannon, a private attorney, to actively participate in the trial of this case when he had represented the mother and adoptive father of the minor child in the family court case?**

On the morning of trial, the solicitor for the Seventh Judicial Circuit gave counsel for Daniel Spade a letter stating that Doug Brannon, the attorney who represented the mother and the adoptive father in the second action involving the termination of the parental rights of Mr Spade, would be a special prosecutor in the case Counsel for Mr Spade asked that Mr. Brannon be disqualified on two grounds First, he had not been appointed in keeping with the provisions

---

<sup>5</sup> In making the *Batson* motion, Mr. Brannon also said “But I don’t think age is an appropriate measure of - - a basis for a strike either, Your Honor.” Rec. on App. at 85, ll 17-19 The trial court did not rule on the age issue and research has not located a case that says age is a proper basis for a *Batson* motion

of S C Code § 1-7-470. Second, counsel pointed out that Mr Brannon had represented both the natural mother and the adoptive father in the action in Family Court to terminate the parental rights of Mr. Spade and “that creates an inherent conflict of interest . . .” Rec. on App at 8, ll 1-25. The TPR action was based upon the same allegations as this present action.

In arguing against the motion the solicitor argued:

MR BARNETTE: Your honor, I think the solicitor has the right to appoint a special prosecutor.

Mr. Brannon has been involved in this case almost from the beginning. He knows it inside and out. He’s been very helpful to our prosecutors. We have actually gotten Jennifer Jordan and Kim Leskanic going to be trying this case, Your Honor, from that standpoint.

\* \* \*

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