ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge JUN 22 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-000448

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DANIEL WILLIAM SPADE,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

Private counsel's participation in a trial to assist the solicitor has been sanctioned in State v. Mattoon, 287 S.C. 493, 339 S.E.2d 867 (1986); State v. Addis, 257 S.C. 482, 186 S.E.2d 415 (1972); State v. Lee, 255 S.C. 309, 178 S.E.2d 652 (1971); and State v. Gregory, 172 S.C. 329, 174 S.E. 10 (1924).

In State v. Addis, 257 S.C. at 487–88, 186 S.E.2d at 417, we declined to find error in the allowance of a private attorney's participation in a criminal trial. The trial court has discretion to allow the solicitor to have the assistance of counsel employed by the prosecuting witness or other person interested in securing a conviction with the consent of the solicitor. Id. A special assistant solicitor is not automatically disqualified because of his simultaneous representation of an interested party. Disqualification occurs when a special assistant solicitor attempts to use his authority in the criminal action to the advantage of his civil client or otherwise compromises his neutrality in the criminal proceeding. State v. Mattoon, 287 S.C. at 494–95, 339 S.E.2d at 869. There is no evidence the private attorneys who acted as special assistant solicitors here stood to gain an unfair advantage in the civil matter as frowned upon in In re Jolly, 269 S.C. 668, 239 S.E.2d 490 (1977). Further, the solicitor maintained control of the case. We do not find error in the use of private attorneys here.

Id. at 119, 481 S.E.2d at 122-23.

The reasoning of Nichols and Addis applies squarely in Appellant's case.⁴ The Seventh Circuit Solicitor's Office maintained control of Appellant's case and Mr. Brannon merely served as a "third chair" and assisted with some aspects of the trial, including arguing two motions, examining one witness (the victim's therapist), and

⁴ As Appellant points out in his brief, our Supreme Court in State v. Mattoon, 287 S.C. 493, 339 S.E.2d 867 (1986), discouraged the practice of appointing private counsel to prosecute criminal cases. Note, however, that in Mattoon, the private attorney appointed to prosecute the case was the sole prosecutor and no one from the solicitor's office was present during trial. Mattoon at 494-95, 339 S.E.2d at 868-69. In any event, despite the statement of discouragement in Mattoon, the decisions of our Supreme Court have consistently upheld the use of special private prosecutors when attacked by the defendant. The Nichols case reiterates this view.

presenting the State's closing argument. (See R. p. 19, lines 7-9; see Brief of Appellant, p. 12). Further, in Appellant's case, unlike in Nichols, Mr. Brannon did not "simultaneously" represent an interested party; instead, his representation of the victim's mother and adoptive father concluded in October of 2012, more than a year and three months before Appellant's trial. (See R. p. 18, lines 20-23). Mr. Brannon stood to gain nothing (other than a sense of personal satisfaction, perhaps) from providing *pro bono* assistance to the State, nor has there been any contention that he attempted to use his authority as a special prosecutor in some improper way. (See R. p. 18, line 5). Therefore, contrary to Appellant's suggestion, Mr. Brannon was not "serving two masters at once." (See Brief of Appellant, p. 14).

Appellant's argument, in addition to not being preserved for review, is based on rank speculation that Mr. Brannon *might* have learned something during his representation of the victim's mother and adoptive father in the past that *might* have been helpful to the defense in this case, and assumes that Mr. Brannon failed to turn such information over to the defense. However, had the issue of privilege or confidentiality actually been raised below or brought to the trial judge's attention in some way, it most likely would have been revealed that Mr. Brannon's former clients - the victim's mother and adoptive father - had indeed waived lawyer-client confidentiality and agreed that Mr. Brannon could, consistent with his obligations as a special prosecutor for the State, turn over any pertinent information. There has been no contention, either at trial or on appeal, that Mr. Brannon actually possessed pertinent information that was required to be turned over to the defense. Further, there has been no contention at trial or on appeal that Mr.

Brannon, as special prosecutor, failed to actually comply with Brady or Rule 5 obligations.

The cases cited by Appellant in support of his position are distinguishable in that those cases involved situations where the private attorney simultaneously represented a financially interested party and was in total control of the prosecution. In Young v. U.S. ex rel. Vuitton et Fils S.A., 481 U.S. 787 (1987), private attorneys served as special prosecutors in a criminal contempt action regarding a violation of a trademark infringement injunction. The injunction and consent decree contained a liquidated damages provision in the amount of \$750,000 for a violation of the injunction. Id. at 805. The private attorneys were appointed by the district court and, significantly, the United States Attorney's Office had no involvement in the case at all. Id. at 791-92. Because the private attorneys simultaneously represented Vuitton in the trademark matter, and in light of the \$750,000 liquidated damages provision for a violation of the injunction, there was the potential for "private interest to influence the discharge of public duty." Id. at 805-806. Therefore, the private prosecutors were "interested" and their appointment was improper. Id. at 814. The Court refused to employ a harmless error analysis under these circumstances because the error was "fundamental" where the appointment of interested private prosecutors - with no involvement of the United States Attorney's Office - raised doubts about "the integrity of the criminal proceeding." Id. at 809-810.

In Ganger v. Peyton, 379 F.2d 709 (4th Cir. 1967), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals held that the defendant's conviction for assaulting his wife was constitutionally invalid because the attorney prosecuting the criminal case simultaneously represented the defendant's wife in a divorce action then pending against the defendant, and the divorce

action was based upon the same assault involved in the criminal matter. Id. at 711-12. Significantly, the private prosecuting attorney improperly used his influence as a prosecutor because he offered to drop the criminal assault charge if the defendant would make a favorable property settlement in the divorce action. Id. A favorable settlement, of course, would have likely impacted the amount of his fee in the divorce matter. Id. at 713. Because of the prosecuting attorney's "self-interest" in the outcome of the criminal case, he was not in a position to exercise fairminded judgment with respect to prosecution of the criminal case. Id. at 712-13. This conflict of interest - wherein the prosecuting attorney was actively attempting to serve two masters at the same time - violated the defendant's due process rights. Id. at 714. A harmless error analysis was not appropriate because the *sole* prosecuting attorney was not "free to exercise the fair discretion which he owed to all persons charged with crime in his court." Id.

Appellant's case is totally different from both Young and Ganger. Again, Mr. Brannon merely assisted the State with the trial as a third-chair prosecutor and he did not have control over Appellant's prosecution from the inception of the case as did the attorneys in Young and Ganger. Furthermore, Mr. Brannon was not "interested" as were the private prosecutors in Young and Ganger because he was not simultaneously representing the victim's mother and adoptive father since that matter concluded in October 2012. Mr. Brannon performed his work as a special prosecutor *pro bono* and there was no possibility of pecuniary gain or unfair advantage in any pending, related civil matter. Accordingly, Young and Ganger do not apply to Appellant's case and there was no "fundamental" trial error here.

Notably, in a case subsequent to Ganger, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals

distinguished Young and held that although Young “flatly proscribes turning the prosecution completely over to private counsel for interested parties,” it “certainly did not proscribe all participation by such counsel.” Person v. Miller, 854 F.2d 656, 663 (4th Cir. 1988). The court then stated:

We therefore read *Young* at least implicitly to approve (or certainly not to forbid) the practice of allowing private counsel for interested parties to participate formally with government counsel in the prosecution of contempt citations so long as that participation (1) has been approved by government counsel; (2) consists solely of rendering assistance in a subordinate role to government counsel; and (3) does not rise in practice to the level of effective control of the prosecution. As indicated, we find authority for this rule of limited participation at least implicit in *Young* and we think it wholly conformable to *Young*'s underlying principles. Accordingly, we adopt it as the appropriate rule governing the participation of private counsel for interested parties in contempt prosecutions.

Id. The court also noted that the evil at which the Young rule was aimed - “the possibility that the criminal contempt sanction would be invoked and prosecuted by private counsel, operating in the adversarial mode, solely to secure advantage to his client and hence without regard for any interests of the defendant and the public in fairness of the criminal process” - is sufficiently guarded against, both in appearance and reality, by “the presence of disinterested government counsel effectively in a position and manifestly prepared to exercise control over the critical prosecutorial decisions - most critically, whether to prosecute, what targets of prosecution to select, what investigative powers to utilize, what sanctions to seek, plea bargains to strike, or immunities to grant.” Id. at 664. Significantly, the reasoning of this Fourth Circuit case is fully in keeping with Nichols and Addis.

Contrary to Appellant’s argument on page 15 of his Brief, prejudice must be shown in order for Appellant to receive relief. In State v. Smart, 278 S.C. 515, 299

S.E.2d 686 (1982), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991), a disqualification case, there existed a potential conflict of interest arising from the fact that one of the prosecutors in the solicitor's office had previously worked for the public defender's office during the pendency of the charges against him. Smart at 517-18, 299 S.E.2d at 687-88. The Supreme Court stated that although Appellant's claim had "merit in the abstract," there was no "constitutional grounding" for it and held that the defendant was required to show "actual prejudice" from the trial court's failure to disqualify the solicitor's office. Id. at 518, 299 S.E.2d at 688. The court rejected Appellant's assertion that prejudice must be "presumed," stating that "[c]reating artificial dilemmas does not relieve appellant of his burden to show actual prejudice in this case." Id. at 519, 299 S.E.2d at 688; see also State v. Chisolm, 312 S.C. 235, 238, 439 S.E.2d 850, 852 (1994) ("Appellant must show actual prejudice from the failure to disqualify the solicitor's office."); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19-20, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (no reversible error in denying the defendant's motion to disqualify an assistant solicitor where the defendant failed to allege any true conflict and failed to allege any actual prejudice from the assistant solicitor's participation in the trial); State v. Bell, 374 S.C. 136, 143-44, 646 S.E.2d 888, 892 (Ct. App. 2007) (absent deliberate prosecutorial misconduct (such as intentionally eavesdropping on a confidential conversation between the defendant and his attorney) or actual prejudice to the defendant, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to disqualify the solicitor's office).

In sum, this case is controlled by Nichols and Addis, and under these cases, the

trial judge did not err in allowing Mr. Brannon to assist the State in Appellant's trial.⁵ No actual prejudice has been alleged or shown, and Appellant is not entitled to reversal on this ground.

IV. Appellant's challenge to the appointment of a special prosecutor on the ground that the solicitor did not produce a commission from the governor is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to secure a ruling on this issue below. Regardless, there was no reversible error on this ground where Appellant has failed to show any prejudice.

Issue Preservation

“Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is *ruled upon by the trial judge* to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (emphasis added). “To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to *and passed upon* by the trial court.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis added). “If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.” Id.; see State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 236, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1995) (although appellant objected, the trial judge did not rule on the objection and appellant did not object further or request curative instructions; therefore, this issue was not preserved for review), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d

⁵ North Carolina and West Virginia, among other states, have adopted standards similar to those set forth in Nichols and Addis. In State v. Moose, 310 N.C. 482, 489, 313 S.E.2d 507, 512-13 (1984), the North Carolina Supreme Court stated that “where it is shown that the solicitor consented to the participation of a privately employed prosecutor and retained control and management of the prosecution, no reason exists why such an accepted and well-settled practice, in and of itself, should cause reversal of the case.” North Carolina also requires actual prejudice: “The law in this State with respect to private prosecutors is clear: absent some evidence that the private prosecutor has in fact ignored the interests of justice in seeking a conviction, his assistance of the public prosecutor is not a per se constitutional violation.” Moose at 488, 313 S.E.2d at 512. Similarly, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has stated: “At the appellate level, a complaint against a private prosecutor must be bottomed on an instance of the private prosecutor's misconduct that in some way prejudiced the defendant.” Acord v. Hedrick, 176 W.Va. 154, 160, 342 S.E.2d 120, 126 (1986).

202 (1998); State v. Clute, 324 S.C. 584, 591, 480 S.E.2d 85, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Moreover, after the trial court ruled that Clute was not in custody for purposes of Miranda, Clute failed to request a specific ruling as to the voluntariness issue pursuant to Jackson v. Denno. The [voluntariness] issue is therefore not preserved for appeal.”), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); *see also* Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282 (2012) (pointing out that “error preservation has been a critical part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure . . . that we do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction rather than being a reviewing court. Since the trial judge was not requested to rule upon the foregoing question, and made no ruling thereabout, it is not properly before this Court for consideration.”) (citations omitted); Harkins v. Greenville County, 340 S.C. 606, 620, 533 S.E.2d 886, 893 (2000) (“In order to be preserved for review, the lower court must rule upon the issue.”); Townsend v. City of Dillon, 326 S.C. 244, 247, 486 S.E.2d 95, 97 (1997) (an issue not ruled on by the trial judge is not preserved for appeal); Town of Mount Pleasant v. Jones, 335 S.C. 295, 305, 516 S.E.2d 468, 474 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Because the municipal court judge and the circuit court judge specifically declined to rule on this issue, it is not properly before us for appellate review.”).

Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in allowing Mr. Brannon to participate in the trial as a special prosecutor on the ground that the solicitor failed to produce a commission from the governor as required by S.C. Code § 1-7-470. However, although

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